
United Nations

GENERAL
ASSEMBLY
FORTY-SECOND SESSION

Official Records"

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 18tp MEETING

SIXTH ('~J'f'T'F.E

J8tp meeting
peld or>

Friday, 9 OCto~pr 1987
at 10 a.m.

NE'W York

CJ-.airman: Mr. AZ~ROUI< (I.ibyan Arab JamaJ-.iriya)

CONTENTS

riEI,('OME TO THE PRESIDENT OF THE INTERNATIONAL COURT OF JUSTICE, THE JUDGES OF THE
COURT AND THE REGISTRAR OF THE COURT

AGENDA ITEM 131: REPORT OF THE SPECIAI, COMMITTEE ON ENHANCING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF
THE PRI~CIPLE OF NON-USE OF FORCE IN INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS (continued)

O'J'HF.R MATTERS

·ThIS =td is subject to COI't"ection. C"r=tions sboold be senl un<kr the signatun: of a member o.f lhe dele­
g."oo concerned "ldti~ CM """* cf flit d4u "f publicari<><l to lhe q,ief of lhe Official RccOlds Editing Sedion.
tOO!\\ DC2-7SO. 2 Uttibld Nations PI.... andi~ ill a CC>pl' of lbc t=nI.

Comctions \loill be lUlled alter the end of lhe SC$$ion. in I scpuate lticicle for each Committ<e.

Di str. GENERAL·
A/C. 6/42/SR. IP
13 OCto!:'E>r 1987

ORIGINAL, ENGLISH

/ ...



A/C.6/42/SR.18
English
I'aqe 2

The meetinq was called to order at 10.1') a.JR.

WELCOME TO 'rHE PRESIDEN'r m' THE INTERNATIONAL COUR'l' OF JUSTICE, THE "UDGES OF THE
COURT AND THE REGIS'rRAR OF THE COUR'r

1. The CHAIRMAN welcomed, on behalf at the Committee, the President of the
Interna;' ional Court of Justice, three of the Judges ot the Court and its Registrar,
and thankdd them tor the interest which the court consistently showed in th~ work
of the Sixth Committee.

2. Mr. SINGH (President of the International Court ot Justice) thanked the
Chai:man and members of the Sixth Committee for their welcome.

AGENDA ITEM 131; REPORT OF THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON ENHANCING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF
THP. PRINCIPLE OF NON-USE OF F'ORCE IN INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS (continued) (A/42/4l1
A/C.6/42/L.I)

3. Mr. BATH (Brazil) said that, with the adoption of the draft Declaration on the
Enhancement of the Effectiveness of the Principle of Refraining from the Threat or
Use of Force in International Relations, the General Assembly would be closing a
chapter that it should endeavour not to cepeat in the future. Responsible
participation in efforts such as that undertaken by the Special Committee must be
based on the search for common ground and constructive dialogue. The Special
Committee's task had not been to restate the principle of non-use of force but to
examine the possibility of strengthenip it. Although the Special Committee could
have provided an institutional framewo for a very useful exercise in that regard,
it had unfortunately fallen a prey to a confrontation between different groups of
delegations. Only after the idea of drafting a world treaty had been dropped had
there been a real possibility of progress in the Special Committee's work.

4. At its most recent session the Special Committee had dedicated itself
earnestly to finalizing the draft Declaration, but regrettably, it had not been
poflsible to give more consideration to many of the pr· '.aions included in the
draft. The text in ~uestion was a document of a declaratory nature listing
generally accepted principles and norms, which did not seem to justify the 10 years
that had been dedicated to the matter. Brazil did not have any objections to the
content of part'. I and 11 of the draft but believed that an additional effort could
have been made to produce a more progressive document. As it stood, the draft
Declaration would not have any effect on the behaviour of States or on the quality
of the law governing relations between t.hem. However, the draft Declaration had
the mer it of representing the expression by all States of the permanent", validity of
a number of important principles.

5. Part III of the text was an essential part of the draft L~claration, b ~ause

it was ,lot enough simply to reaff irm the pr inciple of non-use of force in
international relations and other related normSI attention must also be gIven to
concrete means of making the implementation of such norms effective. That aspect
of the question could not be separated from the discussions on the improvement of

/ ...



A/C.6/42/SR.lB
English
Page 3

(Mr. Bath, Brazil)

the f'mctioning of the Crqanization in the field of th~ maintenance of
international peace and secur i ty. Unfortunately, to a gr6_:t extent the provisions
of part HI l:epresented little more than a repetition of thft terms of the Charter
of the united Nations. A more significant contr_bution could have been made in
that respect if a more open and imaginative discussion of possible ways of
strengthening the mechanisms laid down in the Charl~r and or the practice that had
evolved at the United Nations in the field of the maintenance of international
peace and security had been undertaken.

6. Although it was limited, the contribution made by the Special Committee in
relation to one of the fundamental principles laid down in the Charter should not
be dismissed. The draft Declaration sht I light on the relationship between the
principle laid down in Article 2, paragraph 4, of the Charter and a number of other
important principles and norms. However, the true significance of the draft
Declaration would be confirmed only if in the future a renewed effort was made to
build upon the Special Committee's work. Any such initiative presupposed greater
confidence in the legislative power of the United Nations and in its capacity to
develop respect for rules of general international law. With those considerations
in mind, his delegation would support the adoption of the draft Declaration.

7. Mr. FRANCIS (Jamaica) said that the draft Declaration, which represented the
fruition of the Special Committee's endeavours over the past 10 years, was of
profound significance for international relations. The providons of the draft
Declaration, which were linked to ~hose of important existing instruments, set
forth simple truths and irrefutable tenets of the Organization based on the
Charter, the jurisprUdential practice of the United Nations, generally recognized
principles ol international law, and practice accepted by States. The draft
Declaration contained the quintessential elements t.hat should regulate
international relations, in conformity with the Ch~rter.

B. Turning to the three issues of the settlement of disputes, development and
disarmament, he said that paragraphs 16, 17, 26 and 32 of the draft were all
relevant to the first of those issues. It was particularly important that the
permanent members of the Security Council should move in I1nison where the
maintenance of international peace and security was conce:~ed. The Security
Council had often been crippled by the veto, which should be used aa infrequently
as possible in the crucial area of the maintenance of lnternational peace and
security. There had re~ently been evidence of a greater willingness on the part of
the permanent members to act in unison, which should be encouraqed by States
Members. The important issue of development was dealt with in paraqraph 24, which
hiqhlighted both the need for economic qrowth and the developinq countries' special
requirements. Lastly, in coanection with the issue of disarmament, which WAS dealt
with in paraqraph lB, it must he recognized that there was an inextricable link
between development and disarmament. With reqard to disarmament, it was
encouraqing to note the recent aqreeme . achieved between the two super-Powers on
certain cateqories of nuclear weapons in Europe. Jamaica wished to oonqratulate
the leaders of the two countLies concerned for their courage in taking that step.
It was particularly significant that they had taken account of confidence-building
measures.

I ...



A/C.6/42/SR.18
English
Bage 4

(Mr. Francis, Jamaical

9. He wished to suqqest that, once it had been adopted, the D~clarati()n should be
issued in the form of a booklet that would also contain an annex settinq forth
othe~ relevant instruments and material.

10. Mr. PBTROVSKY (Union of Soviet Socialist Repllbl1csl said that statements made
at the current session of the General Assenlbly as well as siqnificant developments
in the worl~ at larqe bore witness to the ever-increasinq importance attached by
th(t internlltional community to the prillciple of non-use of force in international
relations. Universal security presupposed the d~militarization, democratization
and humanization of international relations and could be achieved only on the basis
of an all-embracing rule of law predicated upon the absolute primacy of
international law in political affairs. The establishment of leq~l security
guarantees was of particular importance in that respect. The draft Declaration,
arrived at as a result of many years of collecti~e ef!ort by the world community as
a whole, was called upon to play an important role in achievinq that end.

11. While it did not contain everythinq that any State or group of States miqht
have wished it to contain, the dratt Declaration was nevertheless a substantial
political document which covered its sUbject-matter 3t many levels and outlined
clearly the main aspects of the principle of non-use of force. Its adoption by
consensus in the Special Committ~e was in itself a manifestation of the new
politic.l thinking which sought to meet the interests of all States in a balanced
11Ianner on the basis of compromise and mutual interest. Documents adopted by
consensus deserved to occupy a special place among United Nations decisions,
provided of course that the consensus was maintain~ not only at the adoption but
also at the implementation stage. His delegation was accordinqly in f~vour of
enhancinq the morally and politically binding nature of documents adolJted on a
c.)nsensus basis.

12. In supporting the draft Declaration, his deleqation noted with satisfaction
that its essential tenor was consistent with" the ideas set forth in ~he Lenin
Decree on Peace of 1917, the Soviet State's first foreiqn policy act. By adoptinq
the draft, the United Nations would make a major contribution to elinlinatin the
pxisting disorepancy between the politic~l practice of States and universal moral
and ethical standards, which, in a world where the very survival of mankind was not
dssured, demanded to be qiven priority. The adoption of the draft Declaration
would represent a major step towards internationll.l f.elations based on the S3Jne
standards of justice which governed relations betw~en individual human beings.

13. Mr. TANOH (Ghana) ctre~sed the importance of the iS8ue under ~on~ideration to
the conduct of relations between States and the maintenance of international peace
and security and commended the clarity of purpose and spirit of co-operatio~ with
which the members of the Special Committee had addressed their difficult t~sk. His
del~qation attached particular importance to par~qraphs 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 17, 23
and 24 of the draft Declaration and ncted that many of its provisions reflected
findings of the International Court of Justice, in Pdrticul~r in the c~se

concerninq Military and Paramil!.tar:y Activities in and aSlainst Nicaragua. Guided
by the concept of international laW embodied in those findings, his delegation

/ ...



A/C.6/42/SR.18
English
Page 5

(Mr. Tanoh, Ghana)

welcomed the draft Declaration as a necessary first step towards the eventual
cOdification of rules prohibiting the use of force in international relations and
govern~nq the exceptions thereto. It was to be feared, however, that in the
absence of a definite and precise elaboration of the content of those rules,
military force would continue to be used to enforce capricious interpretations of
international law in the interest of national policies. On the other hand, the
fact that the draft Declaration had been adopted by consensus in the Special
Committee coul~ be viewed as a hopeful sign of the renewed will of States to
observe the peremptory requirements of international law and to use the
institutional mechanisms pr~vided by the Charter for the peaceful settlement of
disputes. Accordingly, and without prejudice to its desire to see comprehensive
rules and procedures on the subject of the non-use of force in international
relations formulated in an ~ppropriat~ document in the near future, his delegation
would support the draft's adoption by consensus in the Committee.

14. ~. KERNOGA (Byelorussian Soviet Socialist Republic) said that the draft
Declaration was an important political and legal document. Current conditions
required a fundamentally new approach to international problems because it was
absurd to try to solve them by force in the space aqe. The behaviour of States and
Governments had to be brought into line with the realities of the nuclear era.

15. Serious efforts should be made to build up peaceful coexistence on the ba.i~

of disarmament and equal security for all. But equal security could only be
quaranteed by renunciation of the idea of promoting peace from a position of
strength. The Soviet idea of establishing a comprehensive system of international
security was intended to make peaceful coexistence the highest universal principle
of inter-State relations.

16. It was important that the military doctrines of all States and alliances
should be defensive in nature and based on the idea that the military way of
solving disputes was inadmissible. The "arsaw Treaty States had already declared
that they would never beqin military operations unless they themselves were
attacked and would never be the first to use nuclear weapons. Real hOpeR of
reaching an understanding to eliminate whole categories of nuclear miss 8 from
Europe had materialized and that, it achieved, would be a significant st~~ towards
nuclear disarmament.

17. People were becoming increasingly aware of the futility of the pol1"y of
strength, militarism and confrontati~n. In current conditions, the principle of
the non-use of force was of paramount importance for avoiding confrontations
between States because it enabled international security to be seen as the result
of their mutual renunciation of war an~ other aggressive actions. It also
established the responsibilities of States towards the international system as a
whole. Affirmation of a more comprehensive principle prohibiting the threat or use
of fOlce would represftnt a historic achievement and a new staqe in the development
of international law.

/ ...



A/C.6/42/SR.18
English
Page 6

(Mr. Kernoga, nyelorussian SSR)

18. His delegati.on welcomed the completion of the Special Committee's work on the
draft Declaratiol as a collective demonstration of good will and co-operation. It
was gratifying that a number of factors had been identified t~~t had achieved
general recognition as essential components of the future declaration. In
particular, the draft devoted a sepalate article to the fundamental significance of
disarmament for strengthening peace and security. Other important provisions
concerned the pe~cuful settlement of crisis situatIons and regional conflicts and
th,~ responsibility of States to refrain from various hostile activities. The
inclusion of a paragraph on inter-State co-operation against international
terrorism was also a reflection of current realities.

19. The Special Committee's agreement by COnsensus on the text of the draft
Declaration had once again proved the possibility of finding mutually acceptable
solutions. His delegation hoped that the General Assembly would adopt the draft
Declaration, because that would strengthen the growth of new political thinking
based on the clear realization that universal security could only be guaranteed by
political means and not by force.

20. Ms. XUE Hanqin (China) said that the draft Declaration contained various
elements favouring application of the principle of non-use of force, such as the
provision stating that the unlawful use of force entailed international
responsibility and the emphasis on the universal character of the principle, which
meant that no excuse could be invoked to justify its vioLation. The draft also
sought to strengthen the effectiveness of the principle in all aspects of
international relations on the basis of the experience of the united Nations.

21. Her delegation believed that aggression was the most serious and dangerous
form of the illegal use of force. It was ther('.·fore important to affirm that
aggression constituted an international crime and thus gave rise to consequential
rIghts and obl igations of the international 'community and countr ies concerned to
resist it.

22. The problem of distinguishing b~tween the ~egal and illegal use of forCe was a
difficult onc that deeply concerned the international community. International
practice, the codification of international law, and the decisions of the
International Court of Justi.ce had provided us ·tul guidance in that respect, but
codification of t.he pr inciple of non-use of force would be advanced if the draft
Declaration also addressed the issue.

23. The principles of the non-use of force and the peaceful settlement of diE;,:"ute1"l
were mutually related. Her delegation therefore held that if an i.nternational
dispute involved a violation of the former, the country that had resorted to the
illegdl use of force should cease to do so in the interest of achieving a solution.

24. China consi8~ently maintained that States should strictly obsei've the five
principles of mutual respect for sovereignty and territorial integrity,
non-aggression, non'-interference in internal affairs, equality and mutual benefit,
and peacefu.l coexistence. It invariably opposed the use or threat of force in

/ ...



A!C.6/42/8R.18
English
Page 7

(Ma. Xue Hanqin L China)

international relations and advocated the peaceful settlement of int.rnational
disputes. Being in favour of the drafting of legal document. to promote the
principle of the non-Use of force, her delegation supported the draft Declaration
and hoped that it would be adopted by consensus.

25. Mr. CULLEN (Argentina) said that his delegation was pleawed that the Special
Committee had had a productive session, and it reiterated it••upport for the
recomnendation that the General Assembly l'~,ould adopt the draft DeclaratIon. The
satisfaction of the moment, however, could not hide the fact that after 80 many
years a better outcome might have been expected. Argentina shared the view
expressed the previous day by Mexico that the hurried drafting of the Declaration
had been the result of ~n express agreement to bring the work of the Special
Committee to an end rather than a solution to the substantive problem of the u•• of
force in international relations.

26. His delegation agreed with Mr. Treves, Chairman of the Special Committee, th~t

many delegations had joined in the consensus because thQ draft Declaration, as a
whole, had appeared to be the best possible compromise. Of the thr.. poeitiv.
sides of the new instrument noted by Mr. Treves, his delegation hoped that the
third one in particular - the Declaration's pr4ctical impact on the conduct of
States - would take concrete form. In comparison to previous declaration., the
draft Declaration placed more emphasis on the interrelationship betw.en the gen.ral
principles of international law and the non-use of force. Many delegations,
inclUding that of Argentina, had maintained at the Special Committ•• •••••sion that
certain generally accepted areas very closely linked with the non-u•• of force and
the peaceful settlement of disputes, deserved to be included in the new
instrument. He referred in particular to what could be consid.red the positive or
active side of the non-use of force, such as international co-operation and
economic development, situations involving political and economic co.rcion and the
principle of non-interference or non-interVPIll"ion, to which the Latin AIIIerican
countries had given major emphaB.i.s. Although the Special C~itte.". fulfilment of
its last mandate was a positive development, his delegation could only feel that,
in the rush to conclude the work, important idea. had been omitted and the cost in
terms of the Organization's resources and the time and work of delegations had not
been justifiet:.

27. Ms. VOLOCHINSKY (Chile) said that Article 2, paragraph 4, of the Charter
prohibited the threat or use of force in international relation., including the
prohibition not only of war but also, in general, of any threat or u.e of force,
the scope of the prohibition exduded force for whatever purpose it might be u.ed.
Under the Charter, there were ally two express exceptions to that general rule.
self-defence in the case of an ,umed attack and coercive measures ordered or
authorized by the Security Counoc:il. Her delegation had .U9ge.t.ed in the past that
the development of the principl1es, procedures, institutions and machinery en.hrined
in the Charter should be emphasized in order to create the conditionll for the fll'l1
effectiveness of the principle I~hich the Special COIlIlIittee wa. called upon to
enhance.

I ...



A/C.6/4VSR.18
Eoqll.eh
Paqe 8

(Ms. Volochinsky, Chile)

28. Chile had co-sponsored an initiative to add a topio to the liet CIf helldings
proposed by the C;la'lrmarl or the 8P41lciAl Comlllittee at its fifth 8.'Isioo, dealing
with the t'espect and fulfilment in good faith ot int,e .. nl1tional obligat.ion., tc
which Paragraph 12 of the draft Deolaratior. referred. That principle had also been
enshrined in the preamble to the Ch.uto!r Md in flc:rller d~l.ar.ti.on",. The due
fulfilment of interr.ational obl1gationPl was obviously a neCllJl18ar1r pr:erequi3ita to
the maintenanc~ of international peace and security.

29. Her delegation had o~ previous accaEion. drawn attention to the
interrelationship between the principle a! non-u•• of toroe and th~t of the
pell,ce.·ul settlement of disputes. However, ~lthougl:l the two prinoiples were
cm..plementlllry, the evolution of their respective leqol!ll rules had not bee'n P4\raUelJ
althouqh the leqal coditi~ation of the principle Ol non-u~. of fotoo h~d culminated
in the ulti~Ate adoption of ~ strict norm, the obl~gation to s.~tl. disputes
peacefully had not been the subject ot Auch a hiqhly developed and definitive set
ot rulea. That w3s partly the result ot the difU'Jt:lties al':'tllinq from the very
nat"'re of all obligation of result, whose Rubjects were fr.ue to choose the form ~Ii~

means by which the result constituting the dhjective ot ~he Ob11~&tion was to be
reached, pursuant to Article 33 of the Charter. The pOssibilities tor di.agreement
about. the means of achieving the peacetul settlement of dis ...,Jtes ohould be

reduced. The st~engtheninq of t~e role or. the Internati~nal court of Justice was
both an urgent and an important task, as waa the promotion of the oompulaory
settlement of disputes.

30. It wos unfortunat,e that the s",iulling technological AnlJ soiemt1tic proqU·8S
in recent decad~8 had not been accompanied by similar proqre.. in motala and
ethics. On the po.iti~e side, however, the prohibition of the thr~.t o~ u~e o!
force in international relatiorls 'fa8 now psrt of customar~' international ll..,., ar.d
therefore applied to all States, whether or not thev were Members of the United
Nations. Her ~el~gation therefore felt that the dratt ~olaretion, although
i~rfect, ahould be adopted by the Sixth Committee and ~he General Assembly. It
should Nt borne in mind, '.""ever, that the impoo:tanoe of the ~raft Declaration
would be gauged by its praotioal impact on the conduot of States.

31. M~. llAZMI (Afqhani~tan) said that hiB delegation strongly supported the idea
that the future Declaration should contain provisions on the effor~s to achieve a
n«W international economic order and ~iaarmament, the prev~ntiorl of terrorism, the
strengthening of the role ot the United Nations system ot ooll.oth'. security and
the strengtheninq of international co-operation. The operative part of the draft
Declaration contained the most important principle. of international law,
constituting a logioal and scientifio foundation for the prinoiple of non-us. ef
force. The peaceful settlement of. disputes was the most relevant anJ inaeparabJ.
element uf that prinoiple.

32. At~hani8tan,.as a peaoe-lovinq country, had [esorted to the principle of
peaceful settlement of disputes in order to find a politioal solution to the
situation ill rc,spect C"f Afqhanistan. To that end, his Government had put forward
propo8~18 on 14 May 1980 and 24 Auqust 198J aimed at settling the isgue through

I . ..



A!C.6/42/SR.l8
English
Page 9

(Mr. Razmi. Afghanistan)

negotiation. Although Afghanistan was a victim of an undeclared war waged by the
enemies of the April revolution of 1978, it had taken a constructive position at
the Geneva talks between Afqhanistan and Pakistan.

33. The adoption of the draft Declaration could be a substantial contribution to
safeguatdinq a peaceful future for mankind. Although his delegation supported the
draft Declaration as a whole, it felt that every normative instrument should
requlate its subject matter clearly and objectively in order to prevent
misunderstanding and mi8interpr~tation. Paragraph 8 covered only one side when it
declared that -no State may use or encourage the use of economic. political or any
other type of measures to coerce another State". To make the provision more
comprehensive, States should also be required, as they were under Article 2.
paragraph 5, of the Charter, to "refrain from giving assistance to any state
against which the United Nations is taking preventive or enforcement action".

34. His delegation was atronq1y in favour of the adoption of the draft Declaration
by consensus ane would therefore not insist on amending that paragraph. However,
if his suggestion was supported in general by all members of the Sixth Committee.
paragraph 8 could be revised in an appropriate and constructive way. .

35. with rega::d to paragraph 22, it was noteworthy that the Democratic Republic of
Afghanistan had already become a party to the majority of irternationa1 human
rights instruments and was faithful to its commitments. It would in future
consider becominq a party to all international instruments in that field except
those that ~~re in gross contradiction with the Islamic Shariah.

36. Lastly, his deleqation hoped that the draft Declaration would lay a firm
foundation for a world treaty on the non-use of force in international relations,
as proposed by the Soviet Union in 1976.

OTHER MATTERS

37. '!t'. ROSENSTOCK (United States of America) said that he wished to raise two
points unconnected with the substance of the item under discussion but prompted by
the importance of some of the statements that had been made. The first concerned
the disturbance Caused by members of the Committee rushing to obtain copies of
statements that had just been delivered and distracting attention from what
followin~ speakers had to say. He wondered if a better way could not be devised
for members to obtain copies of texts if they so wished. The second concerned the
inaccuracy of some press releases on the Committee's proceedings, on which members
often relied because of the unavoidable delay in issuing summary records. While he
sympathized with those ~T.O had the ~ifficult task of producing such releases, the
degree of inaccuracy in reporting one statement by his delegation had been
seriOUsly misleading. He tl'.':'t'efore ho~ that those responsible for preparing
press release~ would, in case of n'aed, oonsclt with the Office of Legal Affairs or
the speaker ooncerned in order to maintain the necessary standard of accuracy.

I . ..



A/C.5/42/SR.l&
EnqU.h

. Paqe 10

38. !he CHAI~ .aid that the fir.t of the problems mentioned by the United
State. repre.entative could be .olved by speakers makinq oopie. ot their texts
available at the entranoe to the conference room.

39. Mr. lALINKIN (8eoretar~ of the Committee) said that the attention of t~e

Depart_lit of Publio Intor.tion would be drawn to the point made by the Unit"d
State. repre.entative concerning the need to en8ur~ the accuraoy ot pre•• relea.es
on atAtement. made in th~ Committee.

The meeting ro.e at 12.2~.


